                            THE PEGASUS – HER LOSS AND ITS CONSEQUENCES.
PART 1 – A NEW SHIP AND A NEW COMPANY

The beginnings of the Hull and Leith Shipping Company

On the 2nd of December 1835, the Pegasus was launched from Robert Barclay and Company’s shipyard at Stobcross on the Clyde, immediately west of Glasgow city centre.  Barclay’s father, John, had first opened a shipbuilding yard there in 1823, with, what was at the time, the very modern and specialised provision of a slipway with a capacity of 200 tons, designed to enable Atlantic trade ships to be careened and copper bottomed.(Men of the Clyde by Paterson Gifford) When John died in the mid 1820s, the shipyard passed to his sons, Robert and Thomas. They saw the future in terms of the new steamships, not only building them, but also running a shipping line.  Robert took charge of the shipbuilding at the yard, while his older brother Thomas, with offices in the centre of Glasgow, concentrated on the business side of running a shipping line. The launch of the Pegasus saw these plans reach fruition. This large wooden paddle steamer, 140 feet long and 39 feet wide, including the paddle boxes, was to be the first ship for the newly formed Hull and Leith Shipping Company, running a weekly passenger and cargo service between the two ports. 
It took a further six weeks for the Pegasus’s engine to be fitted, and then she completed her sea going trials in style. According to the Glasgow Courier, she was established ‘as a sailor of the very first class’. Then the company needed to get her from the Clyde to her station at Leith. Small ships used the Forth and Clyde canal to cross from west to east, and the majority of the remainder sailed through the Great Glen on Telford’s Caledonian Canal to reach the East Coast at Inverness, thus avoiding the dangers of the Pentland Firth.  The Pegasus, however, was too large to use either of those routes and so had to take the longest and most dangerous passage round the north of Scotland, at probably the worst time of year.  Again,she proved more than capable of handling the conditions. On the 12th of February, 1836, the Hull Packet reported her arrival at Leith on 6 February, with the following comments:
The passage round the north... served one purpose effectively – the proving of her capabilities as a seaboat in the hardest weather that blows.  So stormy a period as that which she has just weathered is of rare occurrence, and her speed and power have been most satisfactorily demonstrated.  
It was an auspicious beginning.
Meanwhile, from 1 January 1836, the Hull Packet had carried advertisements for the new service:
STEAM CONVEYANCE BETWEEN HULL AND LEITH, CALLING OFF SCARBOROUGH, WHITBY, &c.
The powerful and splendid new Steamship, Pegasus, Captain Robert Cook, built expressly for the Hull and Leith trade, will be on the station in a week or two, her machinery being already fitted up. Her Accommodations for Passengers are of the most commodious and elegant description, comprising every comfort of which any Steamer can boast. Besides large Sleeping Cabins for Ladies and for Gentlemen, she has Four distinct State-Rooms, in each of which a small Party or Family can be accommodated.
The great dimensions of this Vessel secure amply Storage for Goods, and the average time of her trips between Hull and Leith will not exceed Twenty-Four Hours.
Fares are given in subsequent advertisements – 25 shillings for the cabin (with two shillings to the steward); 12/6 steerage, and freight charges – sixpence per foot. She was also a mail ship; letters, had to be marked per Pegasus Steamer, and be in the Post Office an hour before sailing.
On Sunday 7 February, the Pegasus left Leith for Hull on her first voyage and, owing to the stormy weather, took 30 hours to complete the passage. At Hull she attracted many visitors and prospective customers, before setting out on the return journey to Leith on Wednesday 10 February. Her second voyage to Hull attracted even more attention. At Spurn point she took on board crews from four Hull whalers which had been trapped in ice in the Davis’ Straits.  Three of the ships had been lost, but the Captain of the Abram had managed to break free and brought back with him the survivors from the other ships. It was some of these men, the Captains and Surgeons of two of the lost ships and two unnamed crewmen whom the Pegasus took on board and brought into Hull to great rejoicing. After these first two voyages, the service settled down, with sailings from Leith on Saturdays, and Hull on Wednesdays, although exact sailing times were dictated by the state of the tide.

The success of the service prompted competition, and later in the spring, the Irish vessel St. George was advertised as providing a better and cheaper service – it had two 55 horse power engines, as opposed to the Pegasus’s single one, and it was offering first class tickets for five shillings, and second class for three shillings. These were not claims which the Hull and Leith Shipping Company allowed to go unchallenged. In July 1836, they published the following statement regarding the Pegasus:
Her machinery undoubtedly possesses great advantages over engines constructed over 15 years ago, and the peculiar safety of the improved double-acting engines is well known to all practical men. Puffs to the disadvantage of the Pegasus come very badly from a vessel which has regularly been beaten here and elsewhere, and which has only second-hand engines saved from a wreck...
August 1836
Pride, however, went before a fall. The Pegasus encountered its first serious problem in August 1836.  Setting sail from Leith on 6 August, in the words of the Hull Packet, it struck on a sunken rock nearly opposite Bamborough Castle. She arrived safe on Tuesday last. There is no contemporary mention of this incident in either the newspapers or the surviving Barclays’ records, but it is referred to in a letter published by the Times after the sinking of the Pegasus, and one of the passengers, Robert Skeen, a London Printer, returning home after visiting his family in Tweedmouth, included an account of the events in a privately published autobiography. I am indebted to his descendant, Philip Somervail for drawing my attention to this account.  Robert Skeen reported that he was chatting to other passengers on deck, when, just after they passed the Farne Islands, the ship struck an underwater rock with such force that several people were knocked to the ground.  The ship’s bows were pierced and five feet of water entered the hold.  The Pegasus raised a distress signal, which attracted help from a fishing boat, whose master helped run the steamer ashore at Newton-by-the-Sea. There the passengers were left to their own devices, (Skeen and some of the others walked in the direction of Dunstanburgh Castle, admiring the scenery), while the Captain returned to Edinburgh, fetching back carpenters, who quickly repaired the ship. It was ready to sail again on the Monday, although Skeen says that a number of the passengers, not surprisingly, preferred to complete the journey by road.  His comments on the cause of the accident, however, are particularly interesting:
It (the rock) was not marked in the chart – but there are many such on that coast – and the captain ought to have kept further out. His silly excuse was that he wished the passengers to have a good view of the picturesque and precipitous shores of Northumberland! 

Two months later, the Captain, Robert Cook married Robert and Thomas Barclays’ sister, Janet – so, whatever Skeen’s opinion, presumably the brothers did not find Cook culpable for the accident to their ship. Perhaps they should have done. Ships sailing along the North East coast of England had two options when they drew near the Farne Islands - they could either go further out to sea by-passing the Islands and their associated rocks on the landward side, or they could choose the so-called Inner Passage, said to be perfectly safe, provided the appropriate channel markers were kept carefully aligned.  Nevertheless, it was generally regarded as a riskier route, susceptible to changes in tide and wind. 
1837
Early in 1837, the Pegasus underwent some form of refit, intended to improve her speed, and returned to service at Leith on Saturday, 11 March. It would appear that passenger accommodation was improved at the same time, as advertisements for this date refer to six rather than the earlier four state rooms. Perhaps as a result of competition from the St. George, prices were also lowered. The best cabin was now 18/- with two shillings for the steward; goods were from 10/- to £1 per ton and light goods fourpence a foot. Despite reducing costs, the company was clearly doing well – a second ship, the Ardencaple was added to the Leith - Hull run, probably in May 1837. 
1838

The New Year began with the Pegasus undergoing some minor, unspecified repairs, but she was back in service by March, when an incident occurred which highlighted another difficulty of this particular route.  When she was due to sail from Hull on Wednesday, 14 March, on her way to the dock gates, she became entangled with another ship.  By the time the vessels were separated, the tide was ebbing, and the Dock Master insisted on closing the gates, despite the fact that the water had only dropped two inches, according to a correspondent to the Hull Packet. The Pegasus was thus trapped for another 12 hours at Hull, until the gates were reopened, and the sailing schedule considerably disrupted.
The Caledonian Mercury of July that year carries an advertisement which provides evidence of one Edinburgh business benefitting from the steamship service. William Adams of the New Worcester Royal Porcelain and Flint Glass Show Rooms, at the Signe of the Gilded Tureen, South Bridge, Edinburgh, (what a superb address!) informed his customers that he was having a sale of existing stock. This was to make room for the goods which he intended to purchase at Worcester, Staffordshire and the glass manufacturing areas of England, after sailing on the Pegasus to Hull. 

From the point of view of a shipping company, however, the main event of 1838 was the wreck of the Forfarshire, a ship of the Dundee & Hull Shipping Company, off the Farne Isles, on 7 September, when she was sailing through the Inner Passage. This wreck is remembered chiefly for the lifeboat rescue of nine passengers by Grace Darling and her father William, but some 42 others died. Both the Forfarshire and the Pegasus had left Hull at the same time, and at least one passenger on the latter had envied the Forfarshire passengers. I could not help contrasting her with our own ship, and wishing that we had had the advantage of her larger size and double engine. Although the Forfarshire had initially pulled ahead, the ships lost contact in bad weather after Spurn Point. It was not until she reached Leith, that those aboard the Pegasus learned of the disaster.  Interestingly, the Pegasus’s safe navigation of the Inner Passage was quoted to indicate that the Forfarshire’s route should have been perfectly safe. Clearly no lessons had been learned from the 1836 accident.
Nor was the Pegasus to escape unscathed this year.  On Sunday, 16 December, about 6.00 a.m., in thick fog, she hit the notorious Salt Scar Rocks, off Redcar. Most of the 70 passengers on board, including a party of soldiers travelling to Liverpool via Hull for embarkation to Canada, were still abed. When daylight broke, it could be seen that the ship was approximately a mile off the coast, and boats came out from Redcar to disembark the passengers. The ship itself remained on the rocks for the next five hours but was able to use her engines to help pump water out of the hold; as a result, she was able to float off at high tide, and get into Hartlepool harbour where she underwent repairs. On this occasion, there is no suggestion of serious navigation error; the accident was the result of the fog and, during that year, 10 other vessels had come to grief on the same rocks.
1839

The Pegasus was back in service by the beginning of January. In mid-February, she went to the aid of the schooner Anna of Weymouth which had capsized in a squall off Inchkeith, when her cargo shifted. The Pegasus was about a mile distant, but with full steam reached the sinking vessel in an incredibly short time and launched a rescue boat. Unfortunately, some of the crew had been trapped within the Anna and drowned, but two sailors leapt from the schooner, and were picked up and taken aboard the steamer where they received every attention and kindness which humanity could suggest.
Shortly after, it was the turn of the Pegasus to need rescuing. She had left Hull for Leith on 1 May, 1839, but on the following evening, between Berwick and Eyemouth, ran into thick fog and lost sight of the land. The captain, now a Neil Cook, slowed to half speed and began to take regular depth soundings. He had no means of judging exactly where he was, however, and as a result missed the turn into the south side of the River Forth and, about 1 o’clock on the Friday morning, struck a rock on the Fife coast, halfway between Elie and St. Monance.  After about half an hour, he managed to back the ship off the rock, only to discover that she was making too much water to enable her to continue the journey. With the aid of a passing fisherman, he ran the ship on to the nearby shore, and then raised the alarm by sounding the ship’s bell and firing guns. This brought more boats from St. Monance, and all the passengers were safely disembarked. Cook then began organising the discharge of cargo and its storage at St. Monance. That we know so much about the events of that night is due to the sworn statements which he, together with the Second Mate and the Engineer gave to the Notary Public at Anstruther, later that day. These were designed to clear the captain and crew from responsibility for the accident, and to demonstrate that they had used every exertion in their power for the safety and preserving of the said ship and cargo.  If these statements were accepted, it was the Insurers and those who consigned the goods to the ship who would have to bear the costs and losses incurred. 
In fact, very little cargo was damaged - some seed &c of trifling value – the rest being sent on to Leith by other vessels.  The listing of the goods concerned provides an interesting insight into the nature of the cargo the Pegasus carried.  Although many items are simply described as bundles, or boxes, others are more fully specified: 10 bundles steel; a bag of nails; 33 bundles scythes; 1 bundle saws; 3 bags wool; 1 cask turpentine; 10 sheep; 89 bags seeds; 45 kegs butter; 5 chests soap; 5 hogheads sugar; 1 truss leather; 8 bags malt; 29 kegs mustard; 1 machine; 4 bags yarn; 1 box hats; 8 pipes oil; 20 bags tares; 1 horse and 1 carriage. The horse and carriage relate to the presence of a party of the 3rd Dragoon Guards on board, and it is clear from surviving warrants that the Pegasus regularly carried soldiers between Hull and Edinburgh. 
The overall costs of dealing with the wreck and its consequences were considerable. The owners were found liable for £582. 9s. 9d., which not only included refloating and repairing the ship and securing the cargo, but also providing accommodation for crew and carpenters; the sum due from the merchants was a further £240. 11s. 6d, covering transport of the cargo to Edinburgh, but also incidental costs such as postage and the printing of notices. The merchants’ sum was divided amongst the 111 businesses which had used the Pegasus to freight their goods, in proportion to the value of the different cargos. The matter was finally concluded in Glasgow on 14 September 1839.
Repairs to the Pegasus were carried out in Dundee, and she presumably re-entered service in the late summer of 1839, although there are no further references to her sailings until November 1839, when there is a notice of a new captain – John Brown.  Perhaps the owners had not been entirely convinced that Neil Cook was blameless with regard to the May accident.
1840

In January 1840, the Pegasus was involved in returning shipwrecked sailors to Leith, after a collision of two ships off Lowestoft. In August, cargoes of wood, machinery and cement are mentioned in letters from Thompson and McKay, the Hull Shipping Agents, but more exotic items were to follow. In October, she transported Mr. Van Amburgh and his travelling menagerie of lions and tigers from their appearances at the Theatre Royal, Hull, to the Theatre Royal, Edinburgh. Two months later, it was the horses of Mr. Ducrow’s Equestrian Theatre who took the same trip, although not without a little difficulty, as the Hull Packet reported: One of the horses could not be induced to quit the pier, but on the keeper in charge speaking one word in a tone of command, the proud animal yielded, and walked on board, submissive as a child. (18.12.1840)
1841

In January, while at Hull, the Pegasus’s engineer was recorded as saving the life of a man who fell from the quayside at 9.00 p.m., by throwing him a life buoy. Later in the year, again at Hull, the Pegasus was involved in helping raise drowned bodies with her grappling iron.
Meanwhile, changes were afoot in the shipping company itself.  In February 1841, Robert Barclay retired, and the Company was reformed as the Hull and Leith Steam Packet Company with six partners.  Thomas was the majority shareholder with seven eighths of the shares.  The remainder were divided amongst Robert Cook, his brother-in-law; John Brown, Captain of the Pegasus; James Langskill, the Company’s shipping agent in Leith, and John MacKay and Henry Stead, both described as Manchester wharfingers, but actually the representatives of Thompson McKay & Co., the Shipping Agents at the Hull end. By now the Glenalbyn was the second ship sharing the Hull Leith route with the Pegasus. At the company’s quarterly meeting on 10 May 1841, it was noted that the recent damage to the Pegasus by staiking (=striking) the ground at Leith Martello Tower was not to the extent at first apprehended as 30/- to 40/- would repair all damage. This accident, together with damage to the Glenalbyn’s boilers, prompted the meeting to require both Sailing and Steaming Crews of both vessels to maintain the utmost Vigilance. At the next meeting in August, the Company’s funds were stated to be in the region of £2,500.  The Pegasus was valued at £4,500, and her insurance renewed with the Forth Marine Insurance Co. and the Glasgow Marine Insurance Co. The decision was also taken that the time was appropriate to modernise their fleet by placing an order for a new iron boat, since iron was cheap and engineering work slack.
In October, while returning to Leith, the Pegasus encountered more difficulties due to bad weather, and by now was also beginning to develop a reputation as a problem ship, as the Hull Agents’ letter makes clear. 
Hull, 21st October 1841

The Peg. was telegraphed as per enclosed (no enclosure survives in the records) by today’s post & this Evg. Mr. Raith & 2 Gent. returned from her having come off at Burlington (the old name for Bridlington).  They bring sad accounts of the weather.  The Engine they say would not work & she has in consequence come back from off Whitby.  Her cabin windows were broken & the Forecastle all aswim, but we presume a little latitude may be given to a ‘Travellers’ report. The weather has been however tremendous, and I am glad she has got into a place of safety.  It is now moderate & she will be able to proceed. If there is any danger of the Boiler or valves giving way, let her be laid up at once for the boat will lose more in character than on the money she will make.  It is getting widely known that her boilers are tender. Let us know on her arrival whether her cargo is damaged.

The storm seems to have badly damaged the Pegasus as a subsequent Company meeting refers to the great repair done at Hull.

1842

The New Year began with the Company signing a contract with Messrs. Wingate & Co., Whiteinch, by Glasgow, for the building of their new iron ship, and in consequence taking stock of their financial position. In February, Mr. Langskill reported that the net earnings of both vessels amounted to approximately £4,960, and that business was flourishing.  Nevertheless, there were concerns over depreciation, and the decision was taken that one or other ship should be offered for sale, to make room for the new ship.

It was court cases which troubled the Pegasus this year. Firstly, in April, Joshua Mortimer of Heckmondwicke, wool dyer, died as the ship approached Spurn Point, whilst travelling to Hull. At the inquest it was stated that he was already drunk when he boarded the ship at Leith and had been refused alcohol on board.  His death was attributed to an effusion of blood on the brain. More seriously, in the same month, the Mate of the Pegasus, Benjamin Beaumont was seriously implicated in a case of whisky smuggling. Mr. Jones, a Customs Officer, having received information, had intercepted George Grayburn, a labourer, carrying a bundle of dirty linen, in which was concealed a bottle containing three and a half pints of whisky. On being questioned, Grayburn said that the linen belonged to the mate of the Pegasus. When the mate was interviewed, he gave evidence that he had given the bundle to Grayburn, who had not known what else it contained. Beaumont, however, refused to admit responsibility for the smuggling. Grayburn was jailed as he had been found with the smuggled goods and could not pay the statutory £25 fine; but, without direct evidence, the court was unable to punish Beaumont. Nevertheless, although some papers are missing, he does seem to have lost his job. 
During that summer, the long-term Edinburgh shipping agent, Mr. Langskill died, and about the same time, Captain Brown decided to surrender his partnership. The August quarterly meeting was largely taken up with the outcomes of these events – Thomas Barclay acquired Brown’s shares, and the Company’s Clerk, Mr. Inkster, was appointed to Mr. Langskill’s post. The insurance was renewed on both the Glenalbyn and the Pegasus, now reduced to £2,000 a piece, and it was agreed that the new ship be called the Martello.  During the year, also, the Pegasus had another change of Captain. This time it was the Mate of the Pegasus, Alexander Miller, who was promoted, having previously been in charge of one of the Leith to London smacks on the coastal run.
The remainder of the year passed without incident, although, at the Company’s November meeting, it was noted that they had failed to find either a buyer or a charter for the Pegasus or the Glenalbyn.  
A further annual insurance for the Pegasus was taken out with the North British Insurance Company in December.

1843
In January 1843, the Martello entered service.  The Glenalbyn was withdrawn to be lengthened a further 26 feet at Denny’s Dumbarton Yard. It was also decided to take the Pegasus out of service until March, to allow for a good overhaul. Hopefully, this would attract prospective buyers, but if not, she would be in good condition for the summer trade.  When the Pegasus returned to service in the spring, it was clear that she was already overshadowed by the Martello. Her sailings were also altered, now leaving Leith on a Wednesday, and Hull on the Saturday. At the May quarterly meeting, Mr. Barclay contrasted the packed nature of the Martello’s cabins with the two or three passengers on a recent Pegasus voyage. It was agreed that Thompson McKay reduce the fares offered on the Pegasus, in an attempt to attract more custom. As it happened, however, the problem was to be resolved in a far more permanent way.
PART 2 TRAGEDY STRIKES

The ship’s complement

When the Pegasus sailed for Hull at 5.40 p.m, on Wednesday 19 July, aboard were a crew of 15, 18 cabin passengers, and 23 steerage passengers. Additional unlisted and hence unknown passengers are believed to have joined the ship at the Leith quay on the Wednesday afternoon. Certainly some soldiers came on board then.
The ship’s crew were the Captain, Alexander Miller, who had taken charge of the ship during the previous year, having been her mate before then; the first mate, William Brown; the acting second mate, Thomas Miller, brother of the Captain; engineers William Hood and Alexander Agnew; firemen, Daniel Campbell, William Knaresborough and William McCoombs; sailors, Robert Melville and John (Jack) Johnstone (or Johnson); ship’s apprentice, Andrew Dowie or Dowely; carpenter, George Taylor; ship’s cook Robert Marshall and the stewards, George Parker and Louisa Howard.
As always on forms of public transport, the passengers came from a wide variety of backgrounds
 and were on the ship for many different reasons.  The most famous by far was Mr. George Elton, a celebrated Shakespearean actor, returning south after an engagement at the Adelphi Theatre Edinburgh, where he had performed Richard III, and Anthony and Cleopatra, as well as other now less well-known plays. Another distinguished passenger was the Reverend John Morrell Mackenzie, a lecturer at Glasgow’s Congregational Theological College, who was travelling south to visit his sister and parents, after spending a short holiday at Portobello with his wife.  He had deliberately chosen to go by the Pegasus rather than the Martello, to avoid travelling on the Sabbath. Among the others were: 
· Thomas Hodgson (23), a young man who had been visiting his parents in Edinburgh, and doubtless celebrating his good fortune, before taking up a new post as Secretary to the Hull Mechanics Institution, previously having been the Assistant Secretary at Leeds. 
· Two boys were off on their holidays, Master Elliott (3/4), from Dundee, was accompanying his uncle James, a solicitor, to his home in Rochdale; David Scott (11/12), the son of a Paisley shawl manufacturer was being taken to London by his old nurse, Mrs Stewart. 
· A group of young people, travelling back to Lincolnshire - Fanny Flowers (11) was the daughter of the Rector of Tealby, returning home from Miss Bank’s boarding school in Edinburgh; with her was another female from the boarding school, Isabella Hopeton (30)
, also Fanny’s brother Field (13), who, with Maria Barton (26) from nearby Market Rasen, had travelled to Edinburgh to see the sights, visit the school and accompany Fanny home. 
· Charles Bailey, a former ferryman, on the ship as a companion to Robinson Torry, a young man who seems to have suffered some form of breakdown and had been travelling for his health. 
· William Primrose a young artist, who had been visiting his elderly parents in Glasgow before returning to his pregnant wife in Hull. 

· There were also a number of soldiers, some apparently en route to India. One group was a recruiting party of the 96th Regiment consisting of Lance-Sergeant Scotter; Corporal B. Dunn; Private J Hartford and Private R. Liddell, together with the Lance Sergeant’s wife and son, a boy of 7, and a recruit for the 78th Regiment, J. McDougall.  With them travelled Susan Allan who was going out to India to join her father, a soldier in the 25th Brigade. Another soldier, a sergeant, possibly called Mackay or Monro, had demanded a cabin place for a fellow sergeant’s wife, at steerage rates, and had made his displeasure obvious when the Captain refused, and told him he was drunk.   
The Voyage
From all accounts, it had been a fine summer’s day in Edinburgh, and the ship set sail on a calm peaceful evening, possibly a little hazy, but nothing to cause concern. It must have been pleasant, Morrell Mackenzie remained on deck watching the coastline until St. Abbs Head was passed, then retiring to bed just after ten.  About a quarter to midnight, the Pegasus passed the white pyramid  marker on Emmanuel Head, the easternmost point of Holy Island, and the lights on the Farne Islands  were clearly visible then.  From there, following her usual route she headed towards the  Inner Passage.  By now, everyone had retired except the crew on duty. At midnight eight bells were rung, signalling crew changes. The Captain went to the bridge; Daniel Campbell the fireman, relieved of his duties came on deck for some fresh air; Jack Johnstone, the helmsman, handed the wheel over to Robert Melville, and on his way back to his bunk, wakened William Brown, the mate. The normal arrangement was that the second mate roused the mate to take his place, but on this evening, the second mate had not appeared, and as a result William was late on duty. Then, about 12.20 a.m. the ship struck a submerged reef, which proved to be the Goldstone Rock. 
The Wreck

To hit a rock on a clear calm night, on a route which had been taken twice a week for seven years, without incident on this section, not surprisingly seems to have produced a total state of shock, at least on the Captain. His immediate response, on being asked by the mate what had happened was God knows, William. He then gave orders to use the paddles to back off the rock.  Already, however, water was flooding into the engine room, and Hood, the engineer, stopped the engine and came on deck to tell the Captain and the helmsman of the need to try to run the ship ashore before she sank. The Captain ordered the ship to be put about.  
Many of the passengers were asleep when the ship struck, but Charles Bailey, lying on a cabin sofa, and one of the steerage passengers, Charles Hildyard, the son of a Beverley clergyman, were still awake.  Baillie came up on deck and, quickly grasping the situation, returned to the cabin to collect his charge, Mr. Torry, on the way telling other passengers he met that the ship had struck a rock.  Returning to the deck with Torry, he found a scene of considerable confusion. The ship had only two lifeboats, each capable of holding 12 - 15 people; certainly not enough for the ship’s complement. These were being lowered, still unfilled, and with no-one apparently in charge – passengers were rushing to the port side boat, to such an extent that Baillie decided they would do better on the starboard side – he put Torry into the boat, which was already half way down the ship’s side, then leapt in after him, followed by many others, including Hildyard.  Once in the boat however, Hildyard decided it was dangerously overcrowded and climbed up the ship’s side, back on board. Then there were problems releasing the boat, with the bow released but still caught by the stern, so that they were hanging at a precarious angle. It was at this point that the paddle wheels were set in motion to back the ship off, and the wash had the effect of capsizing the starboard boat throwing the passengers into the water. It is not clear whether the port boat had already been capsized by the passengers crowding on to it, or whether the wash swamped it too. Bailey surfaced and managed to catch hold of the ship’s rudder chain, from where he called to the mate, who threw him a rope by which he climbed back on board.  By now the ship was starting to sink, the bow going down first. Daniel Campbell, the Fireman, had climbed down the side of the ship and tried to get on board one of the lifeboats but recognised the risk of the boat being swamped and climbed up again. He then dived overboard and swam away from the ship.
At some point about then the crew and passengers attempted to attract attention by shouting together for help. One enterprising soul wrote a message and threw it overboard in a bottle.

Pegasus steamer, to Fern Islands, night of Wednesday, July 19th, 1843. In great distress; struck upon hidden rock. On board fifty-five persons, vessel must go down, and no Grace Darling
. 
(It was finally picked up off the coast of Holland, early in November 1843.) Rockets and a blue light were fired as distress signals, but no attempt was made to fire the ship’s cannon. Bailey heard the Reverend Mackenzie call to the passengers that, as there was no hope of safety, they should unite in prayer.
 He then gathered a group about him, and they prayed together, Mackenzie’s voice carrying clearly above the hubbub. Another lady, looking after two small children, prayed by herself, while the little ones, oblivious of the danger, chattered away. At this point Captain Miller is reported as having called out that everyone must do the best that they can for themselves. Hildyard took off his shoes and stockings, and cut himself a length of ship’s rope, with the intention of tying himself to whatever floating object he could find.  He then went forward, hearing what seem to have been the last recorded words of the Captain, just before the Pegasus finally went under, Great God, look at this.  Hildyard got himself on to the top of the paddle box but was pulled under as the ship went down. Meanwhile Bailey decided that if he was going to save himself, he would have a better chance without his heavy clothes, and so stripped off, noting in passing that his watch had stopped at 12.30, which he took to be the time he had been capsized into the water from the lifeboat. He then leapt into the sea. He found himself being pulled under by the sinking vessel, but was able to fight clear, and, on surfacing, grabbed a piece of wood, and then a small companionway which had floated clear of the ship.  Hood, the Chief Engineer, had abandoned his engine room when the incoming water extinguished the fires. He then climbed to the top of the foremast to see if there were any other ships in sight, but, finding none, returned to the quarter deck, where he formally shook hands with the Captain, who simply remarked, Good God we are all going to the bottom.  Hood clearly had more fighting spirit, and made common cause with Brown, the mate.  Together they threw a loose plank overboard and jumped in after it, succeeding in grabbing it. The ship, however, then took another lurch throwing both men and the plank back on board. At this point, Hood ran to the after mast which he began to climb, noting that two women were already on it. He had only been there a couple of minutes, however, when the ship went down completely, and once more in the water, he swam until he was able to catch hold of the gangway plank to which one of the passengers was already clinging. The Mate was also drawn down by the suction of the sinking ship, but, on surfacing, was able to grab a small piece of wood to help keep himself afloat. A few women had clung to the stern of the ship, but now were dragged down, as were those on the after and main masts. 
Survival

When the ship went down, only part of the foremast remained above the water. The carpenter, George Taylor, succeeded in clinging to this, where he was joined by Hildyard, who, on surfacing, had grabbed a floating accommodation ladder, sat astride it, and paddled his way to the foremast.  There the two men lashed the ladder to the mast with Hildyard’s rope, which remarkably, he had managed to retain.  This gave both men standing room, and they managed to hang on there for the next six hours. Brown used his small piece of wood as a float to help him swim and managed to make his way to one of the now empty but waterlogged ship’s boats, which he managed to board. He then wedged his piece of wood across the boat and used it as a seat. Daniel Campbell got into the other boat, also now empty.  Both boats drifted for the next few hours. Hood and the passenger continued to cling to their plank, on which they were joined by Andrew Dowie, the apprentice. After about two hours, the apprentice was overcome by exhaustion and dropped off, to be followed an hour later by the passenger. Bailey held on to ‘his’ plank, in fact the one the mate and engineer had thrown overboard earlier. He ruthlessly repelled all those who sought to share it, including Louisa Howard, the Stewardess, and one of the firemen. Nor did he offer help to the boy, David Scott, who floated past on one of the ship’s skylights. There was one report of the Captain swimming away from the ship, but otherwise exactly what happened to the rest of the crew and passengers remains unknown. What Bailey lacked in humanity, he made up for in narrative power. His account of the wreck, published shortly after his rescue, describes vividly the scene in the water.

The sky being clear and the water smooth, I could perceive a great number of persons struggling in the water.  Their cries and groans were most awful, and inexpressible; the sound dying away, as they sunk, one by one, till all had become silent in death.  To me it was like the funeral knell – the surge’s dashing sound against those fatal rocks, - and the wild sea-fowl’s screech hovering over them; as if deeply waiting for the dying and the dead.
It was at approximately 5.00 am that the Martello, the Pegasus’s sister ship, making the return journey from Hull to Leith, came upon the scene of devastation.  Although there was little sign of survivors, by now the large amount of flotsam bore witness to the dreadful events. Immediately the Martello’s boats were launched and the crew began retrieving bodies and property. The first of the survivors to be found was described as a man apparently immersed up to the breast in the sea. On approaching him, they found that he was sitting erect in a sunken boat, in a state of frigid insensibility, with the film of death overspreading his eyes.  It is not clear from the accounts whether this was Campbell or Hood.  William Brown was still strong enough to attract attention by shouting for help and was soon also taken on board.  The two men attached to the mast were then rescued, while Bailey, from his own account was the last to be recovered. By then he had drifted about a mile from the wreck, and the boatmen did not see him, until he waved a bit of driftwood to attract their attention.
The Martello continued to search the waters for three hours. When the fishermen on Holy Island saw both flotsam and the unusual behaviour of the Martello, they joined in the search, led by the Harbour Master William Wilson and fisherman, George Markwell. That morning, six further bodies were recovered. Tragically, two, those of David Scott and the Second Engineer, Alexander Agnew, were still warm, but could not be revived. Two were identified as Miss Barton and a Mrs. Alexander from Paisley, but the others, a little boy and an elderly lady remained unidentified. These the Martello brought back to Leith where they were taken to an improvised mortuary at South Leith Church. During Thursday, two more bodies were washed ashore at Bamburgh, eight were picked up by a fishing smack from Aberdeen, and one by a North Berwick gentleman who put to sea with a party of the Coastguards, specifically to give assistance. One of those was subsequently identified as James Martin, a boy of about 12, who had been travelling home to London with his father, a coffee house owner. Unfortunately, this proved to be a case of mistaken identity – when the body reached London, it was found not to be James, and so returned to Leith. According to the Edinburgh Evening Chronicle, it was then identified as Field Flowers. However, as a French fishing boat subsequently recovered a boy’s body, identified by his uncle, as Field’s, who this unfortunate youth was remains unclear.
PART 3: THE AFTERMATH
The aftermath of the wreck had many strands. Attempted recovery of the victims, and salvage of their property, the cargo and of the ship itself continued for some ten weeks until the end of September. Nor were the drowned the only victims; relatives and dependants also attracted concern, and such a major disaster had a significant impact on the Steam Packet Company too. As was to be expected there was much speculation as to the causes of the wreck, ranging from often ill-informed letters to the press, to the painstaking attempts of the Coroner’s Inquest to arrive at an explanation, and last, but by no means least a Parliamentary Select Committee Inquiry into Shipwrecks, which heard evidence from survivors of the Pegasus. There was also a flurry of interest in ways of preventing such accidents turning into full blown disasters.
Recovery

After the news of the disaster broke, North Northumberland and more specifically Holy Island became a focus of attention.  The Hull and Leith Steam Packet Company sent down their Leith Agent, William Pringle, and the original Captain of the Pegasus, Robert Cook to take charge of affairs, Captain Cook with a specific brief to oversee the recovery of the ship.  They were rapidly joined by Lloyd’s agent, Mr. Stewart. While most of the relatives of the victims remained at home, contenting themselves with advertising for news of their loved ones, a few came in person to see what was going on. They included the brother of Sarah Briggs, a governess from Hull; the husband and brother of Mrs. Edlington from Glasgow; the uncle of the Flowers children; and an unnamed penniless youth who appeared on Holy Island searching for his father. The Briggs and Edlington relatives remained at Bamburgh for a week; Captain Cook provided food for the young lad, and then saw him taken back across the causeway in a Brewer’s wagon, before he set out on the long walk back to Edinburgh.  By the end of the first week, two divers with their boats and equipment were also on site – Messrs. Gann and Hoult.
The sea did not give up its remaining victims readily. The first body to be recovered was that of George Aird, a grocer’s son from Edinburgh, brought up from the sunken ship on 29th July, followed by that of a Mr. Innes on 3rd August. On the 4th, a soldier’s body was found, and four days later the Reverend Mackenzie, his body so badly damaged that the intention of taking it back for burial in the family vault in Edinburgh was abandoned in favour of a swift interment in Bamburgh churchyard, adjacent to victims of the wreck of the Forfarshire.  Between the 10th and 12th of August, a further eleven bodies were found – they included two more soldiers, Miss Hopetoun and Louisa Howard, the Stewardess. The body of William Milne, an Edinburgh shoemaker was picked up, off Emanuel Head, by the Coldingham herring boat Alert, and brought into Berwick harbour, the first body actually to be landed there. It was now that the French fishermen recovered Field Flower’s body, and gained considerable praise for their refusal to accept the offered reward. The next week saw another four bodies recovered. They included James Elliott and William Primrose. The latter’s body was so badly damaged, that the fishermen decided it was better to weight it, along with another corpse, and return both to a watery grave, rather than bring them ashore. James Martin Senior’s body was found at the beginning of September, and at the end of that month a further four bodies, two of them identified as soldiers, were washed ashore. It is a measure of the extended nature of the process, that by the time the last bodies safely identifiable as coming from the Pegasus were being recovered, the monument to the Reverend J. Morrell Mackenzie had been completed and was being erected in Bamburgh churchyard.
Better progress was made in recovering personal possessions and cargo from the ship. Much was picked up from the sea or the shore by fishermen and local people – luggage belonging to passengers and generally identified from some of the contents –Elliott’s portmanteau, a carpet bag with Morrell Mackenzie’s theological books; a chest with some of Mr. Elton’s theatrical wardrobe. William Banck’s desk, a package containing sabretaches (satchels suspended by straps for cavalry officers’ belts) with gold on velvet, inscribed Peninsula. W.R. Waterloo, cartridges and belts; Morrell Mackenzie’s Polyglot Bible, a cask of whisky, and Sarah Brigg’s workbox also surfaced, as did a dress of Fanny Flowers in the pockets of which was found a now poignant letter from a school friend dated July 13th:

MY VERY VERY DEAREST FANNY

I am truly sorry to have to say good bye to you, but hope it may not be for long.  I wish you a pleasant journey and every happiness during the holidays, for you have little idea of the love I have for you.  I hope I may be able to come and see you today.  What time do you start tomorrow? I must stop now, I fear you care little about me, but I hope I am and ever may remain your sincerely attached

CHARLOTTE
With the arrival of the Divers at the end of the first week, retrieval became more organised.  By 8 August they had recovered two trunks, a further four carpet bags and three cases of machinery. On 13 August, the Martello took everything recovered so far and as yet unclaimed back to Leith. The divers’ work continued until 26 August, during which time they recovered all the cargo, the ship’s silver plate and yet more luggage. This included all the theatrical properties and further costumes belonging to Mr. Elton and the Master’s carpet bag.  Not all the luggage was readily identifiable, and opening the pieces to search for clues could result in tragic finds, as the Stamford Mercury reported on 18 August:
In one box there were many little infants’ clothes, all most beautifully made and mended, proving what a careful mother had been with them. Then there were relics of so much affection and so many hopes destroyed.

On the 26 and 27 August, having finished their main task, the divers put on an exhibition in Holy Island harbour of how they recovered items from the seabed. So popular was this, that a pleasure boat brought visitors from Spittal to see the show. Then as now, disasters attracted spectators as well as helpers, and there are several references to an increased number of sightseers at Bamburgh and Holy Island.

Recovery of the Pegasus herself proved more problematic.  The report of the Lloyd’s Agent, sent to London on 22 July described the situation in the following terms:

I have been off to the vessel, and find she is in 10 fathoms water, 6 fathoms above her rail, and the mast is 5 feet above the surface at low water.

It does not appear that she has as yet broken up, as the mast is still standing, and very little wreck-wood has driven from her.

The company was confident that she would soon be raised, and sent Robert Cook from Leith with a tug, four lighters, buoys, chains etc. to begin the process. The quarter deck was separated from the rest of the ship and was towed ashore by the Holy Island fishermen on Tuesday 25 July. Two days later, lifting chains had been attached to the ship, and plans were in place to raise her with the tide on the Friday evening.  Her position however was very exposed, making it problematic for the lighters to hold position alongside. The weather also worsened, and when the attempt was made, one of the chains snapped.  At this point the initial attempts were abandoned and, on Saturday 29 July, the tug and lighters returned to Leith. With no immediate prospect of a successful recovery, it became important to prevent the Pegasus becoming a hazard to other shipping. Trinity House ordered that the position should be marked; on 5 August, a green can buoy was attached with the word WRECK clearly painted in white letters, and its location with compass bearings was published in the press. On 18 August the Pegasus was advertised for sale in various newspapers. It appeared that the company hoped to cut their losses.

FOR SALE

THE “PEGASUS”

Steamer, as she now lays sink at the Farne Islands.

Offers to be received by Mr. John Inkster, 44, Bernard Street, Leith.

The presence of experienced Divers at the wreck affords a great facility for Ship carpenters and Engineers in the neighbourhood weighing the Machinery and Boilers at a small expense.

Leith, Aug. 10, 1843.

It was not until Monday 11 September, however, that the Times carried the news that the attempts to lift the ship or salvage any more machinery had been totally abandoned.

Aid for the Victims
When the Martello brought the survivors of the wreck into Leith, it was Mr. Barry of the Granton Hotel who took them in.  Not only did he feed and clothe them, but also launched an appeal both for them and for those left behind, often in dire straights having lost their breadwinner so unexpectedly. A number of fund raising events also took place – for example, in September, the Martello laid on a pleasure trip from Hull to Bridlington with all profits to the appeal.  As the report of this states that 20 shillings was raised, it may be that a trip in one of the ill-fated Hull Steam Packet’s vessels was not entirely popular. The distribution of the funds raised became the responsibility of The Committee for Granting Relief to the Relatives of the Unfortunate Sufferers in the Pegasus Steam Ship. Records of the Committee do not seem to have survived, but two appeals to them for help remain in the archives of the Hull and Leith Steam Packet Company.  Both relate to the relatives of William Primrose the artist. The first, on 13 September, came from John Laughland, the brother of Primrose’s wife stating that his sister is within a week of her Accoushement (sic), if you could give her anything per Account to help her in the meantime, it would be thankfully received by her in her present circumstances. Enclosed with it was a second letter from a Thomas Morton of Kilmarnock. Morton states that William Primrose was a great support to his parents and as he had a particlar Taste for Drawing, they spent a good deal of money on him in that depetment when they could very ill afford it & by this unhappy event all their Bright prospects are gone forever. Moreover William’s father had been nearly blind for the past nine year and was unable to earn anything. Morton asks that this case be brought to the notice of the Committee who could not give to more needful and deserving people. Even the fairly hard-bitten business man, Thomas Barclay, must have been touched by their plight, writing to the Leith Office in March 1844, that, as there were few claimants, the Company should try to get as much as possible for the Primroses.  He added that he had given the family 20 shillings and 40 shillings shortly after the accident, and had called on them.
The plight of one particular family attracted much attention, that of the actor, William Elton.  He left behind seven children, the youngest only eight. These were consistently referred to in the press as ‘the orphans’, although in fact the situation was much more complicated. Elton had separated from his first wife, the mother of his eldest two children, and his second wife, mother of the rest, had gone mad, and was presumably in an asylum. Whatever the reasons, their situation excited much sympathy.  Immediately the news of Elton’s death was known, Mr. Murray, the manager of the Adelphi in Edinburgh, where he had been performing, opened an appeal for the children and arranged to hold a benefit performance.  This took place on 29 July, and raised £252.9.7d. Mr. Alexander, of the Theatre Royal arranged to do likewise, and in London, a Benefit at the Haymarket brought in a further £280. The divers working on the wreck of the Pegasus, generously made over their 40% share of the salvage of Elton’s possessions to his children. Then, on 7 August, the author, Charles Dickens announced a national appeal for the children, opening it with a £30 subscription from Queen Victoria. In December 1843, a final figure for the appeal was announced – it amounted to the not inconsiderable sum of £2,380.  In addition to the finances, it brought the Elton children the friendship and interest of Dickens, who continued to correspond with the eldest daughter throughout his life. 
The Inquest
From immediately after the wreck of the Pegasus, the pressing question was How could it have happened?  It was a question which not surprisingly the relatives wanted to know. It was a question regularly asked in the editorials and letter pages of the newspapers.  It was a question which a considerable number of armchair pundits pontificated upon, often with little regard for truth or accuracy.  There were a number of close to libellous statements that the shipping company ran their business solely for profit, with no regard for the safety of passengers; with complete disregard for the major refit undergone by the Pegasus eighteen months before, she was described as worn out; with no evidence at all of other ships in the vicinity, it was alleged she was probably racing. There was a clear need to get at the actual facts and make them known, and in 1843, the obvious mechanism for this was to hold a Coroner’s Inquest on a body or bodies from the wreck.
With so many bodies recovered within days of the sinking, this should not have presented any difficulty, but it did. The first bodies, picked up by the Martello on the morning of the accident, were taken straight to Leith, thus removing them from the jurisdiction of an English coroner. The location of the wreck also presented problems – it had gone down in an area known as Islandshire which, until the 1840s, technically was not Northumberland, but a detached portion of the County of Durham. So, depending on where the body was washed up there were jurisdictional issues.  The first attempt to convene an inquest occurred when a woman’s body was recovered near Beadnell, in Northumberland, on 21 July.  When an attempt was made to contact a Northumberland coroner, it was to discover that both the Alnwick coroner, Mr. Russell and the Newcastle coroner, Mr. Reid, were in London. As the body was already decomposing, a magistrate’s order was obtained to bury it immediately. A second opportunity lost. Then the divers brought up the body of George Aird from the sunken ship and landed him at Holy Island. The Vicar on Holy Island, the Reverend Anthony Watson, consequently wrote to J Milnes Favell, the Durham coroner, asking him to hold the Inquest. Mr. Milnes Favell replied, saying that under legislation passed in the current session of Parliament, he was prevented from holding Inquests in North Durham, and the Alnwick coroner should be asked to conduct it. Unfortunately the Alnwick coroner was still in London, so the body was removed without an inquest. A third opportunity lost. It was not until 11 August, when the body of William Milne was landed at Berwick, that a way was found out of the vicious circle. Berwick was its own jurisdiction and had its own coroner – at long last an Inquest could be held. The body was taken to Berwick Workhouse, and a jury of local tradesmen
 were empannelled. Even then they served an acting coroner, R.B. Weatherhead, as the coroner Benjamin Nicholson was suffering from a severe illness.
The Inquest opened with one of the Eyemouth fishermen, Thomas Cormack of the Alert, giving evidence of the finding of the body. Returning home after fishing at North Sunderland, they had found the body floating in the water about a mile north of Emmanuel Head. This was followed by the Workhouse Medical Officer, Andrew Henderson giving evidence on the cause of death, which he stated to be suffocation by drowning. So far so good, but it was now necessary to show that this dead body had come from the Pegasus.  The Lloyds Agent, James Sinclair was called, but declined to give evidence regarding Milne’s presence on board, since a member of the Steam Packet Company, Mr. Pringle, was on the island and was in a position to provide this information. This resulted in a letter being sent to Pringle, requesting his attendance and the inquest being adjourned until Monday. Letters were also sent to the relatives of Miss Briggs and Mrs. Edington who were staying in the area, asking if they wished to be present.  All declined, but indicated how important they felt an effective inquiry was. On Monday the Inquest reconvened at the Guildhall, but there was no Mr. Pringle. The meeting was adjourned for a further day, but now a summons was issued for Pringle’s attendance.
When Tuesday came, William Pringle put in an appearance, claiming his failure to appear the previous day was due to the message not having reached him, but there was to be yet more delay. Pringle’s list of passengers was still on Holy Island, and he could not answer for Milne’s presence on the boat without it. The Inquest was adjourned until the Friday evening at 6 p.m., and Pringle was bound over to attend.  Before the jury departed, there was the news that a further body, that of the Captain, Alexander Miller, had been recovered, and it was agreed to extend the Inquest to cover both bodies. Again, the body had been taken to the workhouse, and the Coroner, Mr. Pringle and the jury went there to examine the corpse.  The body was already considerably decomposed, so the most pressing issue was to achieve an accurate identification. A seaman who had known the Captain told the jury that he had a tattoo of his name on his left arm, but while there were visible marks, they were no longer legible; the socks, however, were marked with Miller’s initials, and the marking corresponded with that on other clothing found in the Captain’s bag. Mr. Pringle then identified his chamois leather shirt and waist belt, after which it was agreed there was a secure poof of identity.
The Inquest resumed as planned on the Friday evening, continued into Saturday and concluded on the following Monday morning. In addition to Pringle, crew members William Hood, Daniel Campbell and William Brown were examined on the events of 19 and 20 July, and then evidence was sought from local captains as to appropriate routes along this section of the coast. Once it had been formally established that Milne was a passenger on the Pegasus and the actual events surrounding the sinking, the questioning moved on to broader issues:

· the seaworthiness of the ship;

· the competence and sobriety of the Captain and helmsman;
· the speed of the ship;
· attempts to summon help; and

· the route of the ship.

Hood, Campbell and Brown all described the events of the night as they had experienced them.  These did not add much to what was already in the public domain through their newspaper interviews, and Charles Bailey’s account. Hood and Campbell, however, stated that the Captain complained that the lifeboats had been lowered by the passengers without his orders.  All the men asserted that the ship was in good seaworthy condition and had undergone a major refit eighteen months earlier. They were also clear that the Captain had commanded their respect, was strict and sober, and although less was said about Robert Melville, the helmsman, he also was believed to sober and reliable.
A considerable amount of questioning focussed on the speed of the ship. The press had contained some allegations that the ship was speeding, in an effort to show she could go as fast as the new Martello. This was denied, and the crew members were in general agreement that on the night in question she could not have been travelling at more than seven or eight knots, although, in the right conditions, she could make 10 knots. There was, however, a problem. Hood said he had checked his watch at the Bass Rock, when it showed 8.30pm. If the Pegasus was only doing seven or eight knots, she could not have reached the Goldstone by 12.30 a.m.  Similarly, Brown gave evidence that the ship had reached Fast Castle three house after leaving Leith, a speed of 12 knots. This resulted in detailed questioning of all the witnesses, without any definite outcome, although both men suggested that they may have made a mistake in the times they stated. It was agreed, however, that the use of both the engine and sail could lead to some uncertainty as to the exact speed of the ship.
Hood stated that a blue light and two sky rockets were fired to summon help, but not the ship’s quarter pounder swivel gun.  Campbell had seen the blue light but not the rockets.  He added that the crew and passengers agreed to raise a shout together. The Mate, Brown, confirmed that he had fired both light and rockets. None were confident that the blue light, usually a signal that a passenger needed to disembark, was a recognised emergency signal. Later, Ralph Mossman, Master of the Berwick Shipping Company’s Steamer, Rapid, gave evidence that the blue light was a recognised distress signal.
The most detailed questioning focussed on the ship’s route and how it came about that she had hit the Goldstone on a clear, calm night.  Although much of the evidence was highly technical and related to the alignment of various navigation lights, it emerged that the normal route taken by the Pegasus was to steer to the west of the Goldstone, closer to Holy Island, but then to head towards the Megstone, passing east of it, between it and the Big Farne, before continuing south.  This route, it was said, lessened the effect of the tide, the force of which was broken by the Big Farne.  It was also established that the closer the ship steered to the Goldstone, the shorter the passage was. It was now, however, that William Brown gave his most telling evidence. In response to a question as to whether he considered the route safe at night, he replied: No, I never approved of the passage at night.  In day time it is safe enough. Both Mossman and David McDonald of the General Shipping Company’s schooner, Adelaide, also stated that they considered the Goldstone passage dangerous.
Even so, explanations of why a route usually navigated safely, had gone so wrong early in the morning of 20th July, were very limited. Brown thought that they had steered to avoid some fishing nets off Berwick and this must have put them out of place. The other Captains, however, were very clear that between the coastline and the visible lights, it was relatively easy to establish exactly where a ship was. The overall conclusion was that the watch, for whatever reason, was inadequate. Given that the two men on the bridge were the Captain and his brother, and that the brother failed to waken the Mate at midnight as was customary, was it possible that the two men were engaged in some family discussion or argument which distracted them from the task in hand? As neither survived, it must remain a mystery.
About 1 o’clock, after an hour’s consideration, the jury gave its verdict.

That the persons on whose bodies they had held inquest had met with an accidental death, occasioned by the gross negligence of the captain and those on the look-out of the vessel on board of which they were.

As well as this damning verdict, they also applied the old mediaeval punishment of levying a deodand (that is, where something was the immediate cause of the death of a human being, it, or part of it, was forfeited to the crown to be applied to pious uses) on the ship of £100 for each case. 

They added that the vessel was so badly equipped that they had no sufficient means to make signals to the shore.

Finally they made recommendation:
That all steam vessels ought to have sufficient boat accommodation to carry the whole of the passengers on board.

Even now, the saga of the inquest was not over.  The Hull and Leith Steam Packet Company appealed against the verdict, largely on technicalities. Application was made in the bail Court, early in November 1843 for the verdict to be quashed.  Grounds included that: 

· the record did not show that  the inquest had been held  upon a view by the jury of the body of the deceased;
· the Berwick coroner was not empowered to award any deodand;

· it was not the ship per se that was the cause of death, but the carelessness of the crew;

· the verdict did not refer to the date of the victims’ death;

· the victim (Milne) may not have been on board at the time of the death; and

· the Company was misdescribed as the Hull and Leith Shipping Company, whereas it was the Hull and Leith Steam Packet Company.

Mr. Justice Patterson accepted the application and quashed the verdict.

The Parliamentary Inquiry

A further inquiry also took account of the events on the Pegasus.  In February 1843, Parliament appointed a Select Committee to inquire into The Shipwreck of British Vessels; and the means of preserving the Lives and Property of Shipwrecked Persons. As part of their work, the Committee questioned Robert Hildyard, William Brown and William Hood on 8 August 1843. In many respects the evidence offered simply reprised that given at the inquest. All three witnesses, however, offered the view that the Pegasus  had not stuck on the Goldstone Rock, but had rebounded, which was why it had been necessary to back the ship and aim to steer her ashore. Interestingly, now both the Mate and the Engineer defended the passage to the west of the Goldstone, normally taken by the Captain.  There is nothing to indicate why there was this change in opinion.  For their part, the Committee members were particularly interested in whether there was an adequate number of lifeboats and whether, if the construction of the ship had included watertight bulkheads, the loss of the ship might have been prevented.   The witnesses all confirmed that there were insufficient ships boats, and indeed that there was total confusion over launching of the two that were there. On prompting by the committee, they also all agreed that if paddle box boats (boats stowed bottoms upwards on the paddle box rims) had been available, this would have saved lives. The Engineer and the Mate also said that a watertight bulkhead would probably have prevented the ship sinking. The second report of the Select Committee was published on 15 August 1843. As well as several recommendations relating to ships in foreign waters, the Committee recommended:
the importance of all sea-going Steamers being fitted with Paddle-box Boats, irrespective of Life-Boats and other Boats; and that such Steamers should be built with water-tight divisions.
In fact it was less a legal requirement, than rules, introduced in 1855, by Lloyds Register, which resulted in ship builders introducing watertight bulkheads, to be certain of obtaining insurance; while it took the sinking of the Titanic in 1912, to ensure that all ships had adequate life saving equipment for all passengers. 
Passenger Safety
Despite the ineffectiveness of the recommendations of both the Inquest and the Select Committee, the Pegasus disaster did raise an awareness of the need for improved passenger safety, and in the months after the ship sank, a number of measures were brought to public attention both by demonstrations and coverage in the press.

The first invention to be publicised as a result of the disaster was the Portable Lighthouse, invented and patented by John Robinson, a London chemist. He had contacted Archdeacon Thorpe and Bamburgh Castle, and, with Thorpe’s co-operation, arrangements were made to carry out a trial of the apparatus at the Goldstone Rock, where the Pegasus went down.  On Saturday, 16 September, a safety boat was launched from the Castle, steered by Captain Weatherstone, one of the seamen resident in the castle. The boat reached the Goldstone at 8.00p.m. Then the composition was now ignited, and the darkness which formally prevailed was now succeeded by an immense light, which illuminated the surface of the water as far as the eye could reach, rendering, besides, the position of the vessel and those on board perfectly visible and apparent to those on shore. (Berwick and Kelso Warder 23 September 1843). 
The experiment was declared to be a complete success, and the Warder reporter stated that it was one of The most important inventions of the century, even including the Davy lamp. Further successful demonstrations were carried out at Berwick on the following Monday, when the light was ignited a mile out to sea from the pier head; and on the Tuesday from the Guildhall Steeple. Despite the good impression created by such demonstrations, there seem to be no records of Robinson’s invention being adopted. 
On 30 September, the Yorkshire Gazette reported on the work of the Edinburgh and Leith Humane Society.  They had already recommended the use of safety capes on ships, to help keep people buoyant. These were india-rubber inflatable capes and could be purchased for less than £1. They now sent a circular round shipping companies and owners suggesting that all ships should carry sufficient floats for all passengers.  This was to be achieved by replacing the current flock pillows in the berths by Macintosh air pillows, fitted with straps or strings to pass arms through and fasten in an emergency. Otherwise they could be covered with a pillow case in the same way as the flock ones.  Such pillows, it was claimed would support more than one person in the water.  They also suggested that lifeboats carried cords floated with cork and made visible by white rags tied to them.  These could then be thrown to passengers in the water for whom there was no room in the boats. The ships’ boats themselves were to be made more buoyant by fitting foot diameter long air cushions under the seats.  In time such ideas were to influence safety practices on ships.
A patent was also taken out by a Mr. Morgan for a new type of lifeboat, and publicised in the Times by Captain Townsend Dance R.N. of the Royal Institution. The specification was impressive:
These boats are constructed so as to take up scarcely any room on a ship’s deck...any two people can get them ready for use in less that three minutes....remarkably buoyant and elastic, though of great strength, and calculated to carry passengers  through any sea,  and safely land them through almost any surf... Any records of their actual use, however, seem to have sunk without trace.

Last but by no means least, on 8 March 1844, the Glasgow Herald was able to highlight increased uptake of actual life saving equipment as well as the testing of new items.

· Life buoys were in use on the Glasgow Liverpool steamers and by the City Police at the  Broomielaw Docks.

· Life belts had been adopted by the life boat crews of the Scottish east coast, and the Hull and Leith Steam Packet were carrying sufficient on their ships for all their passengers and crew.
· The following Saturday, Mr. Carte, of the Hull ordnance department was to demonstrate his sea service rocket capable of projecting a line between two ships or from ship to shore.

If few lives had been saved from the Pegasus, the disaster had nevertheless kick-started an interest in the saving of life, which was to ensure safer voyages for future generation of passengers.
The Hull and Leith Steam Packet Company
Neither the Inquest nor the Select Committee had placed any direct blame on the Company. Yet it did not come out with much credit. The speed with which the Inquest findings were challenged and quashed, can have brought little comfort to the bereaved relatives. Nor was the donation of £3 to old Mr. Primrose an act of great generosity. Barclay also tried to use the loss of the Pegasus as an excuse to avoid paying income tax.  A letter of February 1844 to Mr. Inkster, the Clerk at Leith, survives in the Company’s archives.  In it Barclay writes: You must reply to the Income Tax Commissioners that the loss of the Pegasus and consequent falling off of the Passengers has left you without income for a couple of years  - tho’ if we can do no better we must submit to their exactions. Whether the ruse succeeded is not recorded.
Several of the lesser share holders resigned. Stead and Mackay, the Hull Agents, were the first to quit, selling their shares some time before 24 November 1843. By the following May, Mr. Pringle had also gone. Having experienced first-hand the impact of the wreck, perhaps he found it harder than the other share holders to resume life as normal. Certainly Barclay’s claim that they had lost customers was true. Over the winters of both 1843 and 1844, only one ship a week went between Leith and Hull. Nevertheless the Company survived, and, in the long term, flourished. It merged with the Edinburgh & Dundee Steam Packet Co in 1847 and, in 1848, control of the company was in the hands of Thomas Barclay and his brother-in-law, Robert Cook. They worked together towards expanding the company’s activities. In 1852, the introduction of a regular sailing between Leith and Hamburg resulted in the Company’s name being changed to the Leith Hull & Hamburg Steam Packet Co Ltd. In 1862, as the partners grew old, it was finally sold to the Currie brothers, and absorbed into the Currie Line.
Charles Bailey
The one survivor to benefit from the disaster was Charles Bailey. He seems to have had a natural talent for self publicity, and for someone whose account of his own life suggests humble origins, a very good grasp of language. By 13 October 1843, he had published an account of the disaster and his part in it, which was a best seller in its day, the first edition of 1000 copies selling out in just a few days.  A year after the tragedy, back in Hull, in July 1844 he advertised his intention to give swimming lessons throughout the season.  He also promoted the work of Alexander Carte, the inventor of life-saving rockets, and a lifebelt approved by the Board of Ordnance. For him at least, the loss of the Pegasus was not such a disaster. He died in 1862, apparently wealthy enough to leave his wife an annuity.
� 


� James Jaffrey, stationer, foreman; George Young, grocer;  Grindley Weir, leather cutter; Thomas Thompson, draper;  George Weatherhead, confectioner: George Smith, draper; John Davidson, druggist; Walter Kirkwood, draper; James Smail, draper;  Alexander Melrose, shoemaker; Alexander Meikle shoemaker.





� A full list of identified passengers together with what is known of them is given in the appendix


� Accounts generally describe her as Fanny’s school friend, but census records suggest she was considerably older, possibly a teacher or companion assigned to Fanny by the school. One account gives her destination as Market Rasen, so perhaps she was actually Maria Barton’s friend.


� Mackenzie was known as a strong swimmer, so probably chose to forego a chance of saving himself.





